
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE

WESTERN DISTRICT OF OKLAHOMA

THE ABSENTEE SHAWNEE TRIBE )

OF OKLAHOMA and )

THUNDERBIRD ENTERTAINMENT )

CENTER, INC., )

)

Plaintiffs, )

)

vs. ) Case No. CIV-09-0091-F

)

THE HONORABLE DOUGLAS )

COMBS, DISTRICT COURT OF )

POTTAWATOMIE COUNTY, )

OKLAHOMA, and SHANTONA )

BITTLE, individually, )

)

Defendants. )

THE HONORABLE DOUGLAS COMBS, THE DISTRICT

COURT OF POTTAWATOMIE COUNTY, OKLAHOMA’S

MOTION TO DISMISS, AND BRIEF IN SUPPORT

COME NOW the Honorable Douglas Combs, the District Court of Pottawatomie

County, Oklahoma, hereinafter referred to as “State Court”, and moves to dismiss pursuant

to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure Rule 12(b)(1) and 12(b)(6) for lack of jurisdiction and for

failure state grounds upon which this Court can grant relief.  In support of this motion,  the

State Court would show this Court the following:

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Most of the operative facts are set out in the Plaintiffs’ (hereinafter collectively

referred to as “TEC”) Complaint.  In 2005 Shantona Bittle filed a civil suit in the District
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Court of Pottawatomie County, Oklahoma, alleging that TEC negligently served an excessive

amount of alcohol to a patron who subsequently injured her in an automobile collision.

Pottawatomie County District Court Judge Douglas Combs initially found that he lacked

jurisdiction and dismissed the case.  Judge Combs’ ruling was appealed by Shantona Bittle

to the Oklahoma Supreme Court, which reversed the dismissal order and remanded the case

back to the Pottawatomie County District Court for further proceedings.  The ruling of the

Oklahoma Supreme Court, Bittle v. Bahe, 2008 OK 10, 192 P.3d 810, is attached hereto as

Exhibit 1.  The Court held,

IX. Conclusion

Rice v. Rehner concluded that there is no tradition of tribal

sovereign immunity in the area of alcoholic beverage regulation

and that Congress, in 18 U.S.C. § 1161, authorized the states

and the Indian tribes to regulate alcoholic beverages. While Rice

v. Rehner teaches there is no tribal immunity from suit to be

abrogated, § 1161 abrogates any tribal immunity from suit in the

area of alcoholic beverage laws. Manufacturing Technologies

recognized that tribal sovereign immunity is a matter of federal

law, and under the above federal law, the Tribe has no sovereign

tribal immunity from plaintiff's negligence action.

The Tribe, doing business under the name of Thunderbird

Entertainment Center, Inc., owns and operates a casino. It chose

to also become an alcohol vendor at its casino. It applied for and

obtained a state license to sell liquor by the drink at the casino

under the laws of the State of Oklahoma. Oklahoma's alcoholic

beverage laws protect the public, as in this case, the public

traveling along the busy highways. Many tribal casinos are

located on or near our busy highways. The nexus between the

serving of liquor by the drink at the casinos and the traveling

public compels us to reject the Tribe's claim of legal

irresponsibility for serving liquor to obviously intoxicated
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casino patrons. Like any other state-licensed commercial vendor

operating a bar and serving alcoholic beverages for consumption

on the premises, the Tribe is subject to the criminal and civil

jurisdiction of the state courts and may be hailed into state court

to answer allegations that it furnished alcoholic beverages to a

noticeably intoxicated customer.

OPINION OF THE COURT OF CIVIL APPEALS

VACATED; DISMISSAL ORDER OF THE DISTRICT

COURT REVERSED AND CAUSE REMANDED FOR

FURTHER PROCEEDINGS.

Bittle v. Bahe, 2008 OK 10, ¶¶55-55, 192 P.3d 810, 827-828.

TEC did not appeal this final order of the Oklahoma Supreme Court.  See OSCN

docket sheet for Oklahoma Supreme Court Case No. SD-103716 attached hereto as Exhibit

2.  Rather, TEC filed the present action in federal district court, which attempts to collaterally

attack a final judgment of the Oklahoma Supreme Court.

ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITY

PROPOSITION  I

THIS COURT LACKS JURISDICTION TO REVERSE A FINAL

DECISION OF THE OKLAHOMA SUPREME COURT

Title 28 U.S.C.A. § 1738 mandates that full faith and credit be given to state court

judgments.  Paragraph 3 of said statute provides:

Such Acts, records and judicial proceedings or copies thereof,

so authenticated, shall have the same full faith and credit in

every court within the United States and its Territories and

Possessions as they have by law or usage in the courts of such

State, Territory or Possession from which they are taken.
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The only way to challenge a final decision of the Oklahoma Supreme Court is by

way of certiorari to the United States Supreme Court as authorized by 28 U.S.C.A.

§ 1257.

(a)  Final judgments or decrees rendered by the highest court of

a State in which a decision could be had, may be reviewed by

the Supreme Court by writ of certiorari where the validity of a

treaty or statute of the United States is drawn in question or

where the validity of a statute of any State is drawn in question

on the ground of its being repugnant to the Constitution, treaties,

or laws of the United States, or where any title, right, privilege,

or immunity is specially set up or claimed under the Constitution

or the treaties or statutes of, or any commission held or authority

exercised under, the United States.

Federal district courts are not appellate courts of state proceedings.  TEC should have

appealed the decision of the Oklahoma Supreme Court to the United States Supreme Court.

By failing to do so, it is bound by the Court’s ruling.

A federal district court, as a court of limited original

jurisdiction, lacks power to review, modify or nullify a final

order of a state court.

Carbonell v. La. Dept. of Health & Human Resources, 772 F.2d 185, 188 (5th Cir. 1985);

see also, Van Sickle v. Holloway, 791 F.2d 1431 (10th Cir. 1986).

'This Court has held on numerous occasions that federal district

courts do not have jurisdiction under 42 U.S.C. Sec 1983 or any

other theory to reverse or modify the judgments of state courts.'

We echo that it 'is axiomatic that a federal district court, as a

court of original jurisdiction, lacks appellate jurisdiction to

review, modify, or nullify a final order of a state court.  28

U.S.C. Sec. 1257(3).'  Id.  The proper forum for the relief

Kimball now seeks was the United States Supreme Court.
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Carbonell, Id at 188, quoting from the case of Lampkin-Asam v. Supreme Court of

Florida, 601 F.2d 760 (5th Cir. 1979).

The ruling of the Oklahoma Supreme Court in Bittle v. Bahe, 2008 OK 10, 192 P.3d

810, was a final order.  As such, it is entitled to full faith and credit and is not subject to

collateral attack in federal district court.  After the finality of a state court judgment has been

established, the next issue which must be addressed is the amount of deference said judgment

should receive in a subsequent action.  To make this decision federal courts look to the law

of the state where the final judgment was rendered.

When a party asserts the preclusive effect of a state court

judgment, 28 U.S.C. Sec. 1738 (1966) requires that federal

courts give a state court judgment the same full faith and credit

as that judgment would receive under the law of the state in

which the judgment was rendered. 

In evaluating the preclusive effect of a state court judgment, we

are bound by the state law of preclusion.

Sierra Pac. Power Co. v. Craigie, 738 F.Supp. 1325, 1328 (D.C. Nev. 1990).

In Oklahoma, res judicata operates as a complete bar to subsequent litigation.

And, it is the rule in this jurisdiction that a judgment rendered

upon the merits of a controversy by a court of competent

jurisdiction, is a bar to a further suit between the same parties,

or privies, on the same cause of action, so long as the judgment

remains unreversed.

Marcus v. Price, 1950 OK 85, ¶ 11, 216 P.2d 963, 964.

The doctrine of res judicata is that a final judgment of a court of

competent jurisdiction upon a matter properly before it

concludes the matter as to the parties to the litigation and their
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privies and constitutes a bar to a new action upon the same

cause of action, either before the same or any other tribunal.

The most often stated rationale for the doctrine is that public

policy requires there be an end to litigation.

Dearing v. Com'rs of Land Office, 1991 OK 6, ¶7, 808 P.2d 661, 664 (footnotes omitted).

The present action and the previous state action involve the same issues and parties.

Any relief granted by the federal district court would have to be predicated upon a conviction

that the Oklahoma Supreme Court was wrong.  TEC is not seeking a general relief, but rather

a specific ruling that would reverse the decision of the Oklahoma Supreme Court.  Such

relief would be in violation of 28 U.S.C.A. §§ 1257 and 1738, and an impermissible intrusion

into the jurisdiction of the Oklahoma Supreme Court.  A careful review of TEC’s Complaint

shows that the relief requested in the present action is inextricably intertwined with the ruling

of the Oklahoma Supreme Court. 

PROPOSITION II

THE ANTI-INJUNCTION ACT PREVENTS THIS COURT

FROM ENJOINING THE PENDING STATE ACTION

The Anti-Injunction Act provides,

A court of the United States may not grant an injunction to stay

proceedings in a State court except as expressly authorized by

Act of Congress, or where necessary in aid of its jurisdiction, or

to protect or effectuate its judgments.

Title 28 U.S.C.A. § 2283.

TEC’s Complaint, which asks this Court to overturn a decision of the Oklahoma

Supreme Court and enjoin the State Court Defendant, is contrary to the legal principle that
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the fifty States retain the power to decide legal controversies.  The United States Supreme

Court summarized this principle in the case of Atlantic Coast Line R. Co. v. Brotherhood of

Locomotive Engineers, 398 U.S. 281 (1970).

When this Nation was established by the Constitution, each

State surrendered only a part of its sovereign power to the

national government. But those powers that were not

surrendered were retained by the States and unless a State was

restrained by ‘the supreme Law of the Land’ as expressed in the

Constitution, laws, or treaties of the United States, it was free to

exercise those retained powers as it saw fit. One of the reserved

powers was the maintenance of state judicial systems for the

decision of legal controversies. 

Id. at 285.

The prohibition set out in the Anti-Injunction Act “rests on the fundamental

constitutional independence of the State and their courts . . .”  Id. at 287.  “(It is) clear beyond

cavil that the prohibition is not to be whittled away by judicial improvisation.”  Vendo Co.

v. Lektro Vend Corp., 433 U.S. 623, 631 (1977) quoting Amalgamated Clothing Workers of

America v. Richman Bros. Co., 348 U.S. 511, 514 (1955).  “Any doubts as to the propriety

of a federal injunction against state court proceedings should be resolved in favor of

permitting the state courts to proceed in an orderly fashion to finally determine the

controversy.”  Atlantic Coast Line R. Co., supra, 398 U.S. at 297.  The purpose to the Anti-

Injunction Act “is to forestall the inevitable friction between the state and federal courts that

ensues from the injunction of state judicial proceedings by a federal court.” Vendo Co.,

supra, 433 U.S. at 630. 
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PROPOSITION III

THE PLAINTIFFS ARE NOT ENTITLED

TO DECLARATORY RELIEF

TEC’s Complaint seeks the following relief from this Court:

c. Issue an Order declaring that the District Court of

Pottawatomie County, Oklahoma lacks personal and subject

matter jurisdiction over Bittle v. Bahe, et al., District Court of

Pottawatomie County, case no. CJ-2005-1249.

d.  Issue an Order declaring that neither 18 U.S.C. §1161 nor 37

Okla. Stat. 2001, §§ 501, et. seq., contain a clear, express, and/or

unequivocal waiver of tribal sovereign immunity.

e.  Issue an Order declaring that neither the Absentee Tribe nor

TEC have waived tribal sovereign immunity by applying for and

accepting a license from the Oklahoma ABLE Commission to

sell and distribute alcoholic beverages.

f.  Issue an Order declaring that neither the Absentee Tribe nor

TEC have waived tribal sovereign immunity by agreeing to be

bound by and comply with the Oklahoma Beverage Control Act.

g.  Issue an Order declaring that Oklahoma Courts do not have

civil adjudicatory jurisdiction over private common law

negligence actions arising from alleged violations of 37 Okla.

Stat. 2001, §§501 , et. seq.

h.  Issue an Order declaring that the Absentee Shawnee Tribe of

Oklahoma tribal court has exclusive jurisdiction over claims

asserted against it or its economic enterprises in accordance with

its Alcohol Regulations, its Governmental Tort Claims Act, and

its Dram Shop Liability statute.

See paragraph 57 of Plaintiffs’ Complaint, Dkt #1.
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TEC is attempting to circumvent the prohibitions of the Anti-Injunction Act and the

full faith and credit mandate of  28 U.S.C.A. § 1738 discussed above.

A. THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACT CANNOT BE 

USED IN VIOLATION OF THE ANTI-INJUNCTION ACT

As note earlier, Title 28 U.S.C.A. § 2283 provides that a “court of the United States

may not grant an injunction to stay proceedings in a State court except as expressly

authorized by Act of Congress”.  This prohibition may not be circumscribed simply by

couching the requested relief as one for declaratory relief.

Before a court considers whether it should exercise its discretion

to entertain an action for declaratory judgment, the court must

first determine whether it even has the authority to grant the

requested declaratory relief in the first instance. In this regard,

Fifth Circuit law provides that “when a state lawsuit is pending,

more often than not, issuing a declaratory judgment will be

tantamount to issuing an injunction-providing the declaratory

plaintiff an end run around the requirements of the Anti-

Injunction Act.” Travelers Ins. Co. v. Louisiana Farm Bureau

Federation, Inc., 996 F.2d 774, 776 (5th Cir.1993) (citing Texas

Employers' Ins. Ass'n v. Jackson, 862 F.2d 491, 506 (5th

Cir.1988)). Accordingly, as a general rule, a district court may

not consider the merits of an action for declaratory judgment

when: (1) a declaratory defendant has previously filed a cause

of action in state court against the declaratory plaintiff; (2) the

state case involves the same issues as those involved in the

federal case; and (3) the district court is prohibited from

enjoining the state proceedings under the Anti-Injunction Act.

Id. (citing Jackson, 862 F.2d at 506).

In re Complaint of River City Towing Services, Inc., 199 F.Supp.2d 495, 499

(E.D.La.,2002).
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The practical effect of TEC’s request for declaratory relief is identical to its request

for injunctive relief.  Both seek to prohibit the State Court from following the mandate of the

Oklahoma Supreme Court as required by Bittle v. Bahe, 2008 OK 10, 192 P.3d 810.

B. THE DECLARATORY JUDGMENT ACT CANNOT 

BE USED IN VIOLATION OF 28 U.S.C.A. § 1738 

The Declaratory Judgment Act “does not provide a means whereby previous

judgments by state or federal courts may be reexamined, nor is it a substitute for appeal or

post convictions remedies.”  Shannon v. Sequeechi, 365 F.2d 827, 829 (10th Cir. 1966).

There simply must be an end to litigation. If the plaintiffs were

to prevail in this litigation, it would mean that another group of

plaintiffs could then file a suit against me in order to have my

opinion overturned. When and where would this cycle of

litigation end and what rule of law would be established for the

litigants to follow. Such was and is not the intent of the drafters

of Title 28 of United States Code who provided an orderly

appellate process for litigants who wished to appeal decisions

rendered by the lower and appellate courts.

Baier v. Parker, 523 F.Supp. 288, 291 (M.D. La. 1981).

“Declaratory relief is not authorized so that lower federal courts can sit in judgment

over state courts”.  Exxon Shipping Co. v. Airport Depot Diner, Inc., 120 F.3d 166, 170 (9th

Cir. 1997).

Declaratory proceedings in the federal courts against state

officials must be decided with regard for the implications of our

federal system.... Anticipatory judgment by a federal court to

frustrate action by a state agency is even less tolerable to our

federalism.... The procedures of review usually afford ample

protection to a carrier whose federal rights are actually
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invaded.... State courts are bound equally with the federal courts

by the Federal Constitution and laws.

Id. at 170.

Finally, this Court is of the opinion that res judicata is applicable

in actions either for declaratory or injunctive relief under the

federal statutes. Goss v. State of Illinois, 312 F.2d 257, 259 (7th

Cir. 1963); cf. Spampinato v. City of New York, 311 F.2d 439,

440 (2d Cir. 1962); cf. Brown v. Allen, 344 U.S. 443, 456, 73

S.Ct. 397, 97 L.Ed. 469 (1953). 

Hill v. Nelson, 272 F.Supp. 790, 802 (D.C.Cal. 1967).

CONCLUSION

The Plaintiffs have litigated their claims of sovereign immunity to a final resolution

in the State Courts of Oklahoma.  They are now bound by that resolution.  The present action

is an impermissible attempt to circumvent the prohibitions of 28 U.S.C.A. §§ 1738 and 2283,

and get a second bite of the legal apple.  

Respectfully submitted,

s/ Scott D. Boughton                                            

SCOTT D. BOUGHTON, OBA #991

TRICIA L. EVEREST, OBA #20053
Assistant Attorneys General

Oklahoma Attorney General’s Office

Litigation Section

313 N. E. 21st Street

Oklahoma City, Oklahoma  73105

Tele: (405) 521-4274   Fax: (405) 521-4518

Scott.Boughton@oag.ok.gov

Tricia.Everest@oag.ok.gov
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

I hereby certify that on February 18, 2009, I electronically transmitted the

foregoing document to the Clerk of Court using the ECF System for filing and transmittal

of a Notice of Electronic Filing to the following ECF registrants:

David Proctor

Jeremy Z. Carter

Robert T. Goolsby

Goolsby Proctor Heefner & Gibbs PC

701 N. Broadway Avenue, Suite 400

Oklahoma City, OK   73102

dproctor@gphglaw.com

jcarter@gphglaw.com

tgoolsby@gphglaw.com

Attorneys for Plaintiffs Absentee Tribe

Tribe of Oklahoma and Thunderbird

Entertainment Center, Inc.

s/ Scott D. Boughton                                            

Scott D. Boughton
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